
 
 

 TOWN OF ABINGDON, VIRGINIA  
TOWN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, JULY 6, 2021 – 6:30 pm 
TOWN HALL - COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 
DRAFT AGENDA  

Please note there will be an opportunity during the meeting for citizens to address the Town 

Council when the Mayor declares public comments open. We request that anyone addressing 

the Council, sign up, approach the podium when called, state your first and last name, and 

provide your complete mailing address. 
 

A. WELCOME – Mayor Webb 

B. ROLL CALL – Kim Kingsley, Clerk 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE –  Councilmember Mike Owens 

D. PRAYER – Billy Fullen 

E. APPROVAL OF AGENDA – Mayor Webb 

F. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Please place your name on the sign-up sheet provided and 

comments are limited to three (3) minutes per person.  

G. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

 June 7, 2021 meeting 

 June 22, 2021 mid-month meeting 

H. PROCLAMATIONS 

I. PUBLIC HEARING -   Please place your name on the sign-up sheet provided and comments 

are limited to five (5) minutes per person. 

J. RESOLUTIONS 

K. FIRST READING OF ORDINANCES 

L. SECOND READING OF ORDINANCES 

1. An Ordinance of the Council to transition Council elections from May to November – 

Cameron Bell, Town Counsel 

2. An Ordinance to amend Chapter 82 of the Town of Abingdon Code pertaining to ride-

share – James Morani, Town Manager 

M. CONSIDERATION OF BIDS 

 1. Consideration of bids for natural gas franchise, privilege, lease or right proposed to be 

 granted – James Morani, Town Manager 

N. NEW BUSINESS 

O. OLD BUSINESS 



P. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS AND COMMUNICATIONS FROM TOWN MANAGER 

Q. COUNCIL MEMBER REPORTS 

R. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS AND COMMITTEES 

 1. Abingdon Redevelopment and Housing Authority 

  - Appointment to fill unexpired term of Constance Daggs 

 2. Recreation Advisory Commission 

  - Reappointment of Derek Webb, who is eligible to serve an additional term 

S. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



- 50 - 
June 7,  2021 

Regular Meeting 
 
 
 

TOWN OF ABINGDON 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

MONDAY, JUNE 7, 2021 – 6:30 PM 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS – MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 

 A regular meeting of the Abingdon Town Council was held on Monday, June 7, 2021 at 

6:30 pm in the Council Chamber of the Municipal Building. 

A. WELCOME – Mayor Webb 

B. ROLL CALL  

Members of Council Present:  

 

 

 

Mike Owens 

James Anderson 

Amanda Pillion 

Donna Quetsch, Vice Mayor 

Derek Webb, Mayor 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

D. PRAYER – Pastor Steven Bednar 

E. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (VIDEO 9:36 – 10:02) 

On motion of Mrs. Quetsch, seconded by Mrs. Pillion, approved the agenda as 

presented. 

 

                     The roll call vote was as follows:  
  

      Mr. Owens Aye 

      Mr. Anderson Aye 

      Mrs. Pillion  Aye 

      Mrs. Quetsch Aye 

      Mayor Webb Aye 

 

F. PUBLIC COMMENTS  (VIDEO 10:03 – 15:51) 

 Wayne Craig 

 Richard Morgan 

 

G. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (VIDEO  15:52 – 16:31) 

 May 3, 2021 minutes 

 May 20, 2021 mid-month meeting 

 

On motion of Mr. Anderson, seconded by Mr. Owens, approved the May 3, 2021 

and the May 20, 2021 mid-month minutes as presented. 

 

                     The roll call vote was as follows:  
  

      Mr. Owens Aye 



- 51 - 
June 7,  2021 

Regular Meeting 
 
 
 

      Mr. Anderson Aye 

      Mrs. Pillion  Aye 

      Mrs. Quetsch Aye 

      Mayor Webb Aye 

 

H. PROCLAMATIONS (VIDEO  16:33 – 19:18) 

 Mayor Webb read into record Proclamation on the occasion to recognize June 6 – 12, 2021 

at National Garden Week.   Mayor Webb and Council presented members of the Abingdon Garden 

Club with a framed Proclamation. 

 

I. PUBLIC HEARING -   Please place your name on the sign-up sheet provided and comments 

are limited to five (5) minutes per person. 

1. Public Hearing – Sale of real property, namely Hassinger House, also known as Abingdon 

Convention and Visitors Bureau, 335 Cummings Street, Parcel Number 020-11-1  – James 

Morani, Town Manager (VIDEO 19:24 – 21:40) 

 Mayor Webb declared the public hearing open for comment.   Wayne Craig addressed the Council.  

Hearing no further comments, Mayor Webb closed the public hearing.  

 

2. Public Hearing - Solicit public input for local community development in relation to 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) proposal to be submitted to the Virginia 

Department of Housing and Community Development for General Community Support in 

the COVID-19 Environment Program.  The General Community Support in the COVID-19 

Environment Program will consist of a partnership between the Town, locally owned dine-

in restaurants to provide ready-to-go meals to Faith In Action for families in need. – Tonya 

Triplett, Director of Economic Development and Tourism/Assistant Town Manager 

(VIDEO 21:41 – 23:33) 

 

Tonya Triplett, Director of Economic Development and Tourism/Assistant Town Manager 

addressed the Council to advise the continuation of the grant from January 2020 with the DHCD 

offering an additional $200,000.   Mrs. Triplett stated that she has requested the pre-COVID 

regulations and include the locally owned sit-down, full-service restaurants who have opened 

during the pandemic.  

 

Mayor Webb declared the public hearing open for comment. Hearing no further comments, 

Mayor Webb closed the public hearing. 

 

J. RESOLUTIONS 

1. Resolution of the Council supporting local community development in relation to 

 Community Development Block Grant proposal requesting additional funding to be 

 submitted to the Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development for 

 General Community Support in the COVID-19 Environment Program.  – Tonya Triplett, 

 Director of Economic Development and Tourism/Assistant Town Manager (VIDEO 

 23:36 – 24:46) 



- 52 - 
June 7,  2021 

Regular Meeting 
 
 
 

 Cameron Bell, Counsel advised Council that communications with the Virginia 

Department of Housing and Community Development regarding language for the Resolution and 

requested that the matter be tabled and revisited at the next meeting.    

On motion of Mrs. Quetsch, seconded by Mrs. Pillion, tabled matter to a later date.   

 

                     The roll call vote was as follows:  
  

      Mr. Owens Aye 

      Mr. Anderson Aye 

      Mrs. Pillion  Aye 

      Mrs. Quetsch Aye 

      Mayor Webb Aye 

 

2. Resolution of the Council to establish fees and charges for services – James Morani, Town 

 Manager (VIDEO 24:47 – 26:55) 

 Town Manager James Morani advised Council that this Resolution includes sewer fee 

adjustment of four percent effective July 1, as well as trash and all other fees being set by the Town 

Manager as has been the practice.  Mr. Morani stated that the Ordinance included the tax rates as 

required by statute.  Mayor Webb clarified that the sewer and trash fees were recommended by the 

Town’s financial advisors last year but adopting this year as a result of the pandemic.  

 

On motion of Mr. Owens, seconded by Mrs. Quetsch, adopted Resolution as 

presented.   

 

                     The roll call vote was as follows:  
  

      Mr. Owens Aye 

      Mr. Anderson Aye 

      Mrs. Pillion  Aye 

      Mrs. Quetsch Aye 

      Mayor Webb Aye 

 

3. Resolution of the Council supporting the expansion of passenger rail service – James 

 Morani, Town Manager (VIDEO 26:55 – 28:18) 

 Town Manager James Morani stated that this Resolution is the Town’s support for the 

expansion of passenger rail service in Southwest Virginia.  Mr. Morani stated that upon passenger 

this will be forwarded to our legislatures for presentation to the Governor. 

On motion of Mrs. Quetsch, seconded by Mrs. Pillion, adopted Resolution as 

presented.   

 

                     The roll call vote was as follows:  
  



- 53 - 
June 7,  2021 

Regular Meeting 
 
 
 

      Mr. Owens Aye 

      Mr. Anderson Aye 

      Mrs. Pillion  Aye 

      Mrs. Quetsch Aye 

      Mayor Webb Aye 

 

K. FIRST READING OF ORDINANCES 

1. An Ordinance of the Council to transition Council elections from May to November. – 

Cameron Bell, Town Counsel (VIDEO 28:20 – 29:47) 

 Cameron Bell conveyed that legislature passed this session ordering elections to be 

transitioned from May to November by statute 15.2-1400, which requires Council to adopt an 

Ordinance.  Mr. Bell stated that the Ordinance would be effective July 1, but it will affect every 

election conducted after January 1, 2022. 

 Mayor Webb questioned whether this matter should be rejected.   Hearing no comment, 

matter will move to a second reading.  

2. An Ordinance to amend Chapter 82 of the Town of Abingdon Code pertaining to ride-

share – James Morani, Town Manager (VIDEO 29:48 – 30:46) 

 Town Manager James Morani stated that this Ordinance would amend the Town Code to 

redefine the definition of “taxicab” to exclude ride-sharing services such as Uber and Lyft. 

 Mayor Webb questioned whether this matter should be rejected.   Hearing no comment, 

matter will move to a second reading.  

L. SECOND READING OF ORDINANCES 

1. Ordinance of the Council for the Town of Abingdon, Virginia proposing a budget for the 

Town of Abingdon, Virginia to make appropriation for the current expenses of the Town 

and to fix a tax rate upon real and personal property, for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 

2021 and ending June 30, 2022.  – Steve Trotman, Director of Finance (VIDEO 30:49 – 

33:58) 

 Director of Finance Steve Trotman presented a revised budget ordinance to Council as a 

result on increase revenues.   Mr. Trotman stated that he felt confident that the trend would 

continue and amended the budget to include a two-percent Cost of Living Adjustment as this was 

deferred from the current budget due to the pandemic.    

On motion of Mrs. Quetsch, seconded by Mr. Owens, approved the presented Fiscal 

Year 2021-2022 budget, which included a 2% cost of living increase for full-time 

employees, including Council appointees.    

 

                     The roll call vote was as follows:  
  

      Mr. Owens Aye 

      Mr. Anderson Aye 

      Mrs. Pillion  Aye 

      Mrs. Quetsch Aye 



- 54 - 
June 7,  2021 

Regular Meeting 
 
 
 

      Mayor Webb Aye 

 

M. CONSIDERATION OF BIDS 

N. NEW BUSINESS 

 1. Request for Proposals (RFP) by the Town of Abingdon for sale of 335 Cummings Street, 

 Parcel No. 020-11-1 – James Morani, Town Manager (VIDEO 34:02 – 38:57) 

 Town Manager James Morani presented the Request for Proposal for authorization to 

publish.  Mayor Webb stated that this was discussed at the last meeting and changes were made 

based on the requests of citizens regarding the covenants.  Cameron Bell, Counsel, discussed the 

deed restrictions included in the proposed RFP.   Discussion ensued. 

On motion of Mrs. Quetsch, seconded by Mrs. Pillion, approved the Request for 

Proposals as it is presented.    

 

                     The roll call vote was as follows:  
  

      Mr. Owens Aye 

      Mr. Anderson Aye 

      Mrs. Pillion  Aye 

      Mrs. Quetsch Aye 

      Mayor Webb Aye 

O. OLD BUSINESS 

P. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS AND COMMUNICATIONS FROM TOWN 

MANAGER (VIDEO 38:48 – 41:40) 

 Town Manager James Morani updated Council with regard to sales, lodging and meals tax 

collections with a comparison of the April/May 2019 revenue to April/May 2021, and feels very 

cautiously optimistic.  

Q. COUNCIL MEMBER REPORTS (VIDEO 41:42 – 46:52) 

 Mrs. Pillion addressed matters and events regarding interactions between Town Council, 

Manager, and members of the Veterans Memorial Foundation Board.  

R. APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS AND COMMITTEES 

 

Mayor Webb declared the meeting adjourned. 

 

       ____________________________________  

      Mayor Derek Webb 

 

________________________________ 

Kimberly Kingsley, Clerk 



- 55 - 
June 22,  2021 

Mid-month Meeting 
 
 
 

TOWN OF ABINGDON 

MID-MONTH COUNCIL MEETING 

TUESDAY, JUNE 22, 2021 – 2:30 PM 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS – MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

 

 A mid-month meeting of the Abingdon Town Council was held on Tuesday, June 22, 2021 

at 2:30 pm in the Council Chamber of the Municipal Building. 

A. WELCOME – Mayor Webb 

B. ROLL CALL  

Members of Council Present:  

 

 

 

 

Member(s) of Council Absent: 

 

Mike Owens 

Amanda Pillion 

Donna Quetsch, Vice Mayor 

Derek Webb, Mayor 

 

James Anderson 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (VIDEO 6:47 – 1:35:14) 

On motion of Mrs. Quetsch, seconded by Mr. Owens, approved the agenda as 

presented. 

 

                     The roll call vote was as follows:  
  

      Mr. Owens Aye 

      Mr. Anderson Absent 

      Mrs. Pillion  Aye 

      Mrs. Quetsch Aye 

      Mayor Webb Aye 

 

E. PUBLIC COMMENTS   

 No public comments 

 

F. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

G. PROCLAMATIONS 

H. NEW BUSINESS 

 1.  Discussion regarding wastewater operations – James Morani, Town Manager (VIDEO 

 7:44 – 1:12:24) 

 Mike Greenberg, Jay Sheehan and Andy Jackson with Woodard & Curran addressed 

Council with a concept presentation and discussion regarding the benefits of contract operations 

for Wolf Creek Water Reclamation Facility, including providing employees the resources, training 

and management structure to be successful; allow Town management to focus upon other areas of 

importance; develop a more resilient wastewater utility system; develop consistency within the 



- 56 - 
June 22,  2021 

Mid-month Meeting 
 
 
 

annual budget process; most effective means to remain on the leading edge of technology; shift 

daily accountability to a professional operations/engineering firm; recruiting/retention/succession 

planning for professional; and access to resources that are vested in utility success.   Discussion 

ensued.    Council was in favor of pursuing a Request for Proposals for Contract Operations and 

directed Town Manager and Counsel to prepare said request.  

 2.  Presentation regarding American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 – Steve Trotman, Director of 

 Finance (VIDEO 1:12:27 – 1:33:59) 

 Steve Trotman, Director of Finance presented Council with background and Treasury 

guidance for the American Rescue Plan Act (Coronavirus State & Local Fiscal Recovery Fund) 

regarding the $8,162,143 allocated to the Town.  Mr. Trotman advised Council that a separate fund 

had been established for the fund for recordkeeping purposes. 

I. RESOLUTIONS 

J. ORDINANCES  

K. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

L. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS AND COMMUNICATIONS FROM TOWN 

MANAGER (VIDEO 1:34:11 – 1:34:57) 

 Town Manager James Morani reported that the meals and lodging tax trend is 

maintaining and the Town is in a good position for recovery. 

M.  COUNCIL MEMBER REPORTS 

N. CLOSED SESSION 

O. ADJOURN 

 

Mayor Webb declared the meeting adjourned. 

 

       ____________________________________  

      Mayor Derek Webb 

 

________________________________ 

Kimberly Kingsley, Clerk 
 



 

Abingdon: 1150549-1 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE COUNCIL  

TO TRANSITION COUNCIL ELECTIONS  

FROM MAY TO NOVEMBER 

 

WHEREAS, Virginia Code § 15.2-1400 was amended in pertinent part to 

state that  

 

Notwithstanding the provisions of §§ 24.2-222 and 24.2-222.1, any city or 

town charter, or any other provision of law, general or special, beginning with any 

election held after January 1, 2022,  elections for . . . members of a  local governing 

body, . . . shall be held at the time of the November general election for terms to 

commence January 1. That any city or town currently providing for the election of 

its . . .governing body . . . at a  May election shall, by ordinance, provide for the 

transition of such elections to the November general election date. No term of a 

mayor, a member of council, shall be shortened in implementing the change to the 

November election date. Mayors and members of a council . . . who were elected 

at a May general election and whose terms are to expire as of June 30 shall continue 

in office until their successors have been elected at the November general election 

and have been qualified to serve; and 

 

 WHEREAS, by Charter Section 3.1, Town Council elections have been conducted 

in May, pursuant to the above-referenced change in Virginia Code, Council will adopt this 

ordinance to transition elections to the November general election date. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the council of the Town of Abingdon that: 

 

Should any section or provision of this ordinance be decided to be invalid or 

unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity or 

constitutionality of any other section or provision of this ordinance or the Code of the Town of 

Abingdon, Virginia; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that: 

 

 Any Town Council election to be conducted after January 1, 2022, shall be held on 

the November general election date.  Members of a council who were elected at a May general 

election and whose terms are to expire as of June 30, 2021, shall continue in office until their 

successors have been elected at the November general election and have been qualified to serve. 

 

 

  



 

Abingdon: 1150549-1 

CERTIFICATE 

 

Pursuant to Section 2-100 of the Code of the Town of Abingdon, Virginia, I hereby certify 

that I have reviewed the foregoing proposed ordinance to amend, and find it to be in correct 

form, as set forth above, this ____ day of _____, 2021. 

 

Cameron Bell, Counsel 

 

This ordinance was adopted on the  day of  , to take effect on  . 

 

 

Derek Webb, Mayor 

 

The undersigned Clerk of the Town of Abingdon, Virginia (the “Town”), hereby certifies 

that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of an ordinance duly adopted at a meeting 

of the Council held on ______, 2021. I hereby certify that such meeting was a regularly 

scheduled meeting and that, during the consideration of the foregoing ordinance, a quorum was 

present. I further certify that the minutes of meeting was a regularly scheduled meeting and that, 

during the consideration of the foregoing ordinance, a quorum was present. I further certify that 

the minutes of such meeting reflect the attendance of the members and the voting on the foregoing 

ordinance was as follows: 

 

 

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE VOTE 

Derek Webb, Mayor   

Donna Quetsch, Vice Mayor   

Amanda Pillion   

James Anderson   

Mike Owens   

 

WITNESS MY HAND and the seal of the Town of Abingdon as of  , 2021. 

 

 

(SEAL)  
Kimberly Kingsley, Clerk 

 



AN ORDINANCE OF THE COUNCIL  

FOR THE TOWN OF ABINGDON, VIRGINIA TO AMEND 

CODE, CHAPTER 82 – VEHICLES FOR HIRE 

ARTICLE II. – TAXICABS, SECTION 82-26 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Virginia Code § 46.2-2000, et seq., localities may regulate 

certain for-hire transportation; and  

 WHEREAS, Town Council wishes to amend an ordinance definition of taxicabs;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the council of the Town of Abingdon that: 

 

1. Should any section or provision of this ordinance be decided to be invalid or 

unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity or 

constitutionality of any other section or provision of this ordinance or the Code of the Town of 

Abingdon, Virginia; and 

2. The Town of Abingdon's current Code, Chapter 82 – Vehicles for Hire, Article II – 

Taxicabs, Section 82-26 that is proposed for amendment states:  

TAXICAB 

 

     Any motor vehicle used for the transportation of passengers for hire or 

reward upon the streets of the Town, except buses operated under franchise and 

over fixed routes between fixed terminuses.  

 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that Code, Chapter 82 – Vehicles for Hire, Article II – 

Taxicabs, Section 82-26 be amended as follows: 

 

TAXICAB 

 

Any motor vehicle having a seating capacity of not more than six passengers, 

excluding the driver, not operating on a regular route or between fixed terminals used in 

the transportation of passengers for hire or for compensation, and not a common carrier, 

restricted common carrier, transportation network company, TNC partner, or 

nonemergency medical transportation carrier as defined in Virginia Code § 46.2-2000. 



CERTIFICATE 

 

Pursuant to Section 2-100 of the Code of the Town of Abingdon, Virginia, I hereby certify 

that I have reviewed the foregoing proposed ordinance to Code, Chapter 82 – Vehicles for Hire, 

Article II – Taxicabs, Section 82-26, and find it to be in correct form, as set forth above, on 

June 7, 2021. 

 

     _______________________________ 

Cameron Bell, Counsel  

 

 

This ordinance was adopted on _________________, to take effect on ____________________. 

 

 

Derek Webb, Mayor 

 

The undersigned Clerk of the Town of Abingdon, Virginia (the “Town”), hereby certifies 

that the foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of an ordinance duly adopted at a meeting 

of the Council held on June 7, 2021. I hereby certify that such meeting was a regularly scheduled 

meeting and that, during the consideration of the foregoing ordinance, a quorum was present. I 

further certify that the minutes of meeting was a regularly scheduled meeting and that, during 

the consideration of the foregoing ordinance, a quorum was present. I further certify that the 

minutes of such meeting reflect the attendance of the members and the voting on the foregoing 

ordinance was as follows: 

 

 

MEMBERS ATTENDANCE VOTE 

Derek Webb, Mayor   

Donna Quetsch, Vice Mayor   

 Amanda Pillion   

James Anderson   

Mike Owens   

 

WITNESS MY HAND and the seal of the Town of Abingdon as of June 7, 2021. 

 

 

(SEAL)  
Kimberly Kingsley, Clerk 

 

 

 



 





















TOWN OF ABINGDON 

REDEVELOPMENT & HOUSING AUTHORITY 

CURRENT MEMBERS 

APPOINTMENT & EXPIRATION DATES 

4-YEAR TERMS 

2nd Wednesday of Each Month; 5 – 7 pm 

190 East Main Street, Abingdon VA 

Staff Contact:  Mark Adams - Director 

Phone Number:  276-628-5661 

markadams.arha@gmail.com  

UPDATED:   February 2021 
 

Name Address Phone # Appointment 

Date 

Term 

Expiration 

Date 

Eligible 

for 

Another 

Term 

Debbie Loveland 

debbieloveland@hotmail.com 

  

315 Lowland 

Street, SE 

Abingdon VA 

24210 

540-940-

7363 

February 

2021 

(4 year term) 

February 2025 

Yes 

Dorothea Denice Frazier 

dorotheafrazier@yahoo.com  

P O Box 1282 

Abingdon VA 

24212-1282 

276-739-

9938 

February 5, 

2018 

(4 year term) 

February, 2022 

Yes 

Tracy Meek 

Tracy.L.meek@gmail.com 

 

236 Baugh 

Lane 

Abingdon VA  

24210 

276-206-

1583 (c) 

December 4, 

2017 

(replaced 

Vickye Hall) 

(4 year term) 

December, 2021 

Yes 

Michael Rush 

Michaelrush1962@gmail.com 

   

610 Colonial 

Road 

Abingdon VA 

24210 

276-492-

3044 (C) 

December 

2015 (1st 

term) 

December 

2019 (2nd 

term) 

(4 year term)  

December, 2023 

No 

 

(to fill the unexpired term of  

Constance Daggs) 

  
September 4, 

2018 

(4 year term) 

September 2022 

Yes 

 
 
 
 

mailto:debbieloveland@hotmail.com
mailto:dorotheafrazier@yahoo.com
mailto:Tracy.L.meek@gmail.com
mailto:Michaelrush1962@gmail.com













	A - 1 2021.07.06 draft agenda
	G - 1 2021.06.07 minutes
	G - 1a 2021.06.22 mid-month minutes
	L - 1 Ordinance to move elections to November_ Abingdon 15-1
	L - 2 Chapter 82 ride-sharing
	M - 1 BHC Notice and sample of proposed Franchise Agreement
	R - 1 Abingdon Red and Housing Authority 2021.02.02 matrix
	R - 1a Katlin Kazmi
	R - 1b Mohsin Kazmi
	R - 1c Frank J. Stephon, IV

